FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/27/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/21/2025 4:37 PM

Supreme Court No. Court of Appeals No. 85289-2-I Case #: 1038259

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. POLEVIA VALOAGA, Petitioner. PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
richard@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW.
B. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED
C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED .
1. Decisions in the lower appellate courts on juror unanimity are inconsistent and contradictory. The decision here conflicts with precedent. The Court should grant review to provide clarity and resolve the conflict.
a. Criminal defendants have a right to jury unanimity on the act constituting the crime.
b. As the prosecution argued, the evidence showed two separate assaults. The lack of a unanimity instruction or clear election violated Mr. Valoaga's right to jury unanimity.
c. The decisions analyzing whether the "continuing course of conduct" exception applies are inconsistent. The Court of Appeals added to the confusion by holding that two distinct assaults separated in time and space, where the assailant was plainly mentally ill and distracted between the two assaults, consisted a continuous course of conduct.
2. Review should be granted to decide whether the State is judicially estopped from arguing that two distinct assaults constitute a continuing course of conduct when the State at trial repeatedly identifies there being <i>two</i> assaults rathe than one.

Е.	CONCLUSION	23	3

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

<u>State v. Kautz</u> , noted at 20 Wn. App. 2d 1066, 2022 WL 291005 (2022) (unpublished)		
State v. Russell, 69 Wn. App. 237, 848 P.2d 743 (1993) 19		
<u>State v. Sanchez</u> , noted a t27 Wn. App. 2d 1050, 2023 WL 5016376 (2023) (unpublished)		
State v. Wilkins, 200 Wn. App. 794, 403 P.3d 890 (2017) 21		
Constitutional Provisions		
Const. art. I, § 21		
Statutes		
RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a)		
Rules		
RAP 13.4(b)(2)		
RAP 13.4(b)(3)		
RAP 13.4(b)(4)		
Treatises		
11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 35.02 (5th Ed)		
11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 4.25 (5th Ed).8		

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Polevia Valoaga, the petitioner, asks this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review.

The Court of Appeals issued its opinion on December 23, 2024.

B. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to jury unanimity as to the act constituting the charged offense. If there is evidence of two distinct acts that could constitute the charged offense, the prosecution must clearly elect the act it is relying on or the jury must be instructed that it must be unanimous as to the act constituting the offense. There was evidence of two distinct assaults, each at different places and separated in time by about 20 minutes. The prosecution did not make a clear election and the court did not provide the jury a unanimity instruction. Was Mr. Valoaga's right to jury unanimity violated?

2. The State may be estopped from arguing the continuing course of conduct exception to the rule requiring a jury unanimity instruction. Judicial estoppel examines: (1) whether the party's position is clearly inconsistent with its earlier position, (2) whether accepting the position would create a misleading perception, and (3) whether the party would gain an unfair advantage. In the trial court, the State repeatedly stated there were two separate assaults. Accepting a change in position that there was one continuous assault creates a perception that the State misled. And the State gains an unfair advantage because a unanimity instruction may not be required under its new position. Was the State estopped from arguing the continuing course of conduct exception on appeal?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daniel Whitesel was assaulted by a man at about 7:37 p.m. while standing at a bus stop on Pacific Highway South and 312th in Federal Way. RP 557-60, 604-05; Ex. 21. In addition to significant vehicle traffic, this is a busy commercial area and

many people were out and about that night. RP 510, 591; Ex. 21(1)-(4). A witness who called 911 believed the assailant, a young man with a backpack, hit Mr. Whitesel, an older man, with a metal pipe, knocking him to the ground. RP 657; Ex. 27.

As video surveillance from the intersection shows, Mr. Whitesel got up and crossed the highway to the east near a gas station. Exs. 6, 21(1). Mr. Whitesel's assailant crossed the street too. Ex 21(1). Mr. Whitesel walked slowly south, as did his assailant. Exs. 6, 21(1), (2). At about 7:44 p.m., Mr. Whitesel crossed the street to the west side, followed by his assailant about a minute later. Ex. 21(2). After that, they disappeared from the camera's view. Ex. 21(2)

About six minutes later, at 7:51 p.m., the assailant and Mr. Whitesel reappeared on the camera, now on the east side where they had both crossed earlier. Ex. 21(2). They both

¹ Exhibit 21 has several video files, including four labeled, "(1) 21-10416.avi"; "(2) 21-10416.avi"; "(3) 21-10416.avi"; and (4) "21-10416.avi." These four files are referred to as Ex. 21(1); Ex. 21(2); Ex. 21(3), and Ex. 21(4).

walked north. Ex. 21(2). Mr. Whitesel was ahead and, several minutes later crossed the street west near the gas station back to the area near the bus stop, and then north across the intersection. Ex. 21(4). The assailant later crossed the street west near the gas station and then crossed north. Ex. 21, (3), (4). Mr. Whitesel walked across the street to the east. Ex. 21(4).

Mr. Whitesel walked north on the east side while the other man walked north on the east side. Ex. 21(4). At about 7:57 p.m., the assailant left the sidewalk, entered some shrubbery, and stood there for about a minute. Ex. 21(2).

The assailant returned to the sidewalk and crossed the street to the east and walked north in Mr. Whitesel's direction. Ex. 21(2). Other people walked near them. Ex. 21(2). At about 7:59 p.m., the assailant stopped momentarily and appeared to pick up an object on the ground to the right. Ex. 21(2).

Mr. Whitesel crossed a street to the north and then crossed the street to the west side. Ex. 21(2). The assailant went in the same direction. Ex. 21(2). At about 8:01 p.m., there is an

encounter between the two men in the southbound lanes of the highway. Ex. 21(2). The man violently assaulted Mr. Whitesel again by throwing him to the ground and using the weapon. Ex. 21(2). He left.

Shortly thereafter, Polevia Valoaga, who was standing behind one of the businesses in the nearby area, was detained on suspicion of being the assailant. RP 450-53; Ex. 6.

Police took two people who witnessed the second assault to identify Mr. Valoaga as the assailant or not. RP 615, 619-21, 796-97, 811, 816. Based primarily on Mr. Valoaga's clothing and backpack, the two witnesses agreed with the police that they had the right person. RP 636, 800, 811-12, 815.

Mr. Whitesel was later shown a photomontage with six people, including Mr. Valoaga. RP 704. Mr. Whitesel was unable to identify Mr. Valoaga as his assailant. RP 704.

Nearby where Mr. Valoaga was detained, police found a camping saw with a folding blade that had been used by the assailant against Mr. Whitesel—blood, hair, and DNA evidence

on the blade strongly linked it to Mr. Whitesel. RP 428-29, 455, 505-08, 690-91. No forensic evidence linked the weapon to Mr. Valoaga. RP 691-92, 694. Mr. Valoaga had some blood on his clothing and the DNA results indicated this blood could have belonged to Mr. Whitesel, but unlike the DNA on the saw, there was only moderate support for this conclusion. RP 758-60. The forensic scientist who tested the clothing and saw acknowledged that items can become contaminated with DNA either at the lab or during the collection process. RP 755-77.

Mr. Valoaga was charged with one count of first degree assault with a deadly weapon enhancement. CP 49. Mr. Valoaga pleaded not guilty and contended at trial there was reasonable doubt that he was the assailant. RP 872-895.

The prosecution characterized the incidents as involving two assaults. Ex. 6; RP 420-21, 577, 601, 864, 870-71. But it did not elect either incident as the basis for the charge. RP 852-

71. And the jury was not instructed it must be unanimous as to the act constituting the assault. CP 50-68.

The jury found Mr. Valoaga guilty as charged. CP 71-72.

On appeal, Mr. Valoaga argued the conviction should be reversed because his right to jury unanimity was violated. There were two separate, distinct assaults and the jury was not instructed that it must be unanimous as to the act it was basing conviction upon. Mr. Valoaga also argued that the prosecution was judicially estopped from arguing otherwise. Following oral argument,² the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion disagreeing with Mr. Valoaga and affirming his conviction.

² https://tvw.org/video/division-1-court-of-appeals-2024111119/

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- 1. Decisions in the lower appellate courts on juror unanimity are inconsistent and contradictory. The decision here conflicts with precedent. The Court should grant review to provide clarity and resolve the conflict.
 - a. Criminal defendants have a right to jury unanimity on the act constituting the crime.

"Criminal defendants in Washington have a right to a unanimous jury verdict." State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994); Const. art. I, § 21. When the State presents evidence of several acts, any one of which is allegedly sufficient to constitute the crime charged, the jury must unanimously agree on which act constituted the crime.

State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).

The State must elect the act it is relying on or the trial court must provide a unanimity instruction, often called a "Petrich" instruction. 3 Id.; State v. Aguilar, 27 Wn. App. 3d 905, 924, 534

³ <u>State v. Petrich</u>, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984); <u>see</u> 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 4.25 (5th Ed).

P.3d 360 (2023). Otherwise, some of the jurors may rely on one act while others may rely on another. <u>Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 411. This violates the defendant's constitutional right to jury unanimity. <u>Id.</u>

In evaluating when a unanimity instruction is required, there are three inquiries. State v. Hanson, 59 Wn. App. 651, 656, 800 P.2d 1124 (1990). First, the court evaluates what must be proved under the criminal statute. Id. Second, the court evaluates what the evidence discloses, viewed in the light most favorable to the State. Id. & n.6. Third, the court analyzes whether the evidence shows more than one violation of the statute. Id. at 657. If the evidence shows two or more violations, then a unanimity instruction or clear election is required. Id.; State v. Handran, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989). "Evidence of a single victim . . . is not enough in itself to demonstrate that the offense was one continuing offense." State v. Fiallo-Lopez, 78 Wn. App. 717, 724, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995).

b. As the prosecution argued, the evidence showed two separate assaults. The lack of a unanimity instruction or clear election violated Mr. Valoaga's right to jury unanimity.

Mr. Valoaga was charged with one count of first degree assault against Mr. Whitesel. CP 49. This required proof that Mr. Valoaga, with intent to inflict great bodily harm, assaulted Mr. Whitesel with a deadly weapon or by force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death. RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a); 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 35.02 (5th Ed); CP 59.

The evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, showed two acts of first degree assault under this statute.

The first act of first degree assault occurred at a bus stop at about 7:37 p.m. RP 556-60; Ex. 21(1). It concerned Mr. Whitesel being struck quickly two times with a weapon, a folding saw. RP 605-07; Ex. 21(1). Mr. Whitesel fell to the

ground, but got up and walked across the street. Ex. 21(1). The assailant folded the weapon up and the assault ended. Ex. 21(1).

The second act of first degree assault, much more severe than the first, occurred about a block to the north in the middle of the street at about 8:00 p.m. Ex. 21(2). Mr. Whitesel is pursued into the street, grabbed, thrown to the ground, and hit or sliced several times with the saw. Ex. 21(2). He does not get up on his own. Ex. 21(2). In this second assault, Mr. Whitesel had his right ear partly cut off. Ex. 21(2); RP 336-37, 821.

Consistent with their separation in time and space, the prosecution and the witnesses referred to two assaults. Exhibit 6, a Google Earth image of the area admitted at trial, labels the place where the second assault occurred as "Second Assault." Ex. 6; RP 420-21, 577. As the prosecutor asked Officer Kyle Buchanan:

Q All right. So this is our map, again, right. Where did we see that <u>second kind of assault</u> happen?

A So at kind of the top left corner of the screen, there is a pin there that says <u>"second assault."</u> That's the general area.

RP 577. The prosecutor reiterated this shortly thereafter on redirect, asking if "two separate assaults" can be seen on the video:

Q Admittedly, you know, we do lose sight of the victim for a couple of brief moments, right. But do we see two separate assaults? Do I have that right?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And did <u>they</u> appear to be perpetrated by the same individual?

A Yes.

RP 601 (emphases added).

During closing argument, the prosecutor referred to the assault by the bus stop as "the initial assault." RP 864. The prosecutor also spoke of "two assaults" in arguing intent. RP 870. And when discussing Mr. Whitesel lying in the road, the prosecutor identified this as being "after the second assault." RP 871. The prosecutor also displayed exhibit 6, the google

earth image with the label "second assault," as part of its

PowerPoint during closing argument." RP 864. It is reproduced
below:



CP 136.

Despite identifying two separate assaults, the prosecutor did not make an election as to which assault it was relying on for conviction. "To avoid constitutional error, any election must clearly identify the act on which the charge in question is based." Aguilar, 27 Wn. App. 2d at 924 (cleaned up) (citing State v. Carson, 184 Wn.2d 207, 228, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015)).

To make a clear election, "the State must not only discuss the acts on which it is relying, it must in some way disclaim its intention to rely on other acts." <u>Carson</u>, 184 Wn.2d at 228 n.15.

Here, the prosecution discussed both assaults and did not disclaim reliance on either one. And the prosecution emphasized to the jury that while it must be unanimous as to guilt, the jurors did not have to agree on why:

What doesn't happen -- what it doesn't have to be is that you don't all have to agree as to the reasons for your belief beyond a reasonable doubt that this defendant is guilty. You have to be unanimous in the belief that he is, in fact, guilty, but you can have different reasons for that belief. You can arrive at that conclusion through different paths, okay. I just want to make that clear, that everyone can have kind of differing opinions as long as you are unanimous in your belief that this defendant is guilty.

RP 855 (emphases added). Thus, there was no clear election.

Aguilar, 27 Wn. App. 2d at 924 (State "did the opposite" of a clear election because it "opined at multiple points throughout trial that more than one rape occurred.").

c. The decisions analyzing whether the "continuing course of conduct" exception applies are inconsistent. The Court of Appeals added to the confusion by holding that two distinct assaults separated in time and space, where the assailant was plainly mentally ill and distracted between the two assaults, consisted a continuous course of conduct.

A unanimity instruction is not required where the acts constitute a continuing course of conduct rather than distinct acts. Aguilar, 27 Wn. App. 2d at 925. "[W]here the evidence involves conduct at different times and places, then the evidence tends to show 'several distinct acts.'" Id.

This exception did not apply. The two assaults were separated considerably in both time and space. More than 20 minutes elapsed between the assaults. The first was at a bus stop while the second was about a block to the north in the middle of the street. Between the assaults, Mr. Whitesel walked south before coming back north, and crossed the highway several times. Although Mr. Whitesel's assailant followed him, he did so slowly. And the two were often separated by the multiple lane highway, which was busy with significant traffic

flowing both north and south. Ex. 21. This shows the two assaults were distinct acts.

Moreover, the assailant, who plainly appeared to have mental health issues, was not focused entirely on Mr. Whitesel. For example, one part of the video shows his assailant walking into some shrubs or bushes by the sidewalk at about 7:56 p.m. and standing there for about a minute. Ex. 21(2). Another example is that at about 7:59 p.m., the assailant stops and appears to pick something off the ground to his right. Ex. 21(2). This shows someone acting "erratically," rather than with "an ongoing enterprise with a single objective." Aguilar, 27 Wn. App. 2d at 927 (internal quotation omitted). "These are not the qualities of a continuing course of conduct." Id.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged "there were two distinct attacks on Whitesel." Slip op. at 11. Still, the court agreed with the State that it was "excused from electing or providing a jury instruction on unanimity as the two encounters constituted a single, ongoing course of conduct." Slip op. at 5.

In support, the appellate court cited that Mr. Valoaga slowly followed Mr. Whitesel for about 20 minutes between the assaults and that there was no intervening act or event. Slip op. at 10-11.

This analysis ignores that likely due to mental illness, the assailant's behavior was erratic. Contrary to the State's arguments, there was not a "continuing impulse to harm," Br. of Resp't at 19, because the assailant failed to act on the many opportunities between the two assaults to harm the victim. And to the extent he was acting rationally, he had the opportunity to stop and reflect before committing another assault.

On time and space, the appellate court emphasized the assaults were close in space and only separated in time by about 20 minutes. While there are cases holding that a continuous course of conduct may exceed more than 20 minutes, the cases relied on by State involved assaultive conduct against a very small by an adult charged with caring for that child. State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 317, 329-30, 804 P.2d 10 (1991); State

v. Craven, 69 Wn. App. 581, 582-83, 588-89, 849 P.2d 681 (1993). "[A] fact pattern which evidences systematic abuse particularly lends itself to a continuing course of conduct analysis." Craven, 69 Wn. App. at 589 n.7. This is not akin to two assaults on a busy public street against an adult who remains unrestrained in the 20 minutes between the assaults.

As for evaluating the evidence in a "commonsense manner," State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 571, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), the average person would conclude there were two assaults. That is why the prosecutor *repeatedly* referred to two assaults. Indeed, the prosecution could have charged two assaults without creating a double jeopardy violation at sentencing. See State v. Villanueva-Gonzalez, 180 Wn.2d 975, 985, 329 P.3d 78 (2014) (setting out factors to evaluate whether assaultive conduct is one course of conduct).

The decision in this case, like several other decisions ignored a framework set out by the Court of Appeals in <u>Hansen</u> and applied in other cases to determine if a unanimity

instruction is required. Under <u>Hanson</u>, if the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, shows more than one violation of the statute, then a unanimity instruction is required. 59 Wn. App. at 656; see, e.g, <u>State v. Russell</u>, 69 Wn. App. 237, 249, 848 P.2d 743 (1993) (citing framework); <u>State v. Sanchez</u>, noted at 27 Wn. App. 2d 1050, 2023 WL 5016376 at *5 (2023) (unpublished) (same). That standard was plainly met here, but the Court Appeals ignored the framework. This split in the precedent merits clarification from this Court and review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The decision here is also contrary to the recent decision by the Court of Appeals in Aguilar. There, the Court emphasized that a person's mental state or erratic behavior indicates multiple acts, not a continuous single criminal act.

Aguilar, 27 Wn. App. 2d at 927. But notwithstanding the strange and erratic behavior by the assailant, who was plainly mentally ill and had many opportunities to assault Mr. Whitesel in the 20 minutes between the two assaults, the Court of

Appeals determined the two assaults were continuing course of conduct. This conflict justifies review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Review of this issue is also merited as matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Unanimity issues arise frequently in criminal cases. But the framework is wanting. As applied by the appellate courts, the continuing course of conduct exception tends to swallow the rule requiring jury unanimity. In other words, the right to jury unanimity on the act constituting the offense has become the exception rather than the rule.

Determining the appropriate framework is also a significant constitutional question that should be decided by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3). The <u>Hanson</u> framework should be adopted by this Court, which is a workable framework that will yield predictable results and bring uniformity. It will help put an end to conflicting decisions on unanimity and the indeterminacy in the current caselaw.

2. Review should be granted to decide whether the State is judicially estopped from arguing that two distinct assaults constitute a continuing course of conduct when the State at trial repeatedly identifies there being two assaults rather than one.

Based on the prosecution's position below of two different assaults, judicial estoppel precludes it from asserting a continuing course of conduct argument on appeal. State v.

Kautz, noted at 20 Wn. App. 2d 1066, 2022 WL 291005 at *5-6 (2022) (unpublished). Judicial estoppel requires consideration of three factors: "(1) whether the party's later position is clearly inconsistent with its earlier position, (2) whether accepting the new position would create the perception that a court was misled, and (3) whether a party would gain an unfair advantage from the change." State v. Wilkins, 200 Wn. App. 794, 803, 403 P.3d 890 (2017).

In <u>Kautz</u>, the Court of Appeals held that the State was precluded by judicial estoppel from arguing on appeal that two assaults constituted a continuing course of conduct. <u>Id.</u> at 6.

This Court reasoned (1) the State took the position in the trial

court that the two assaults were separate and its argument on appeal they were a continuing course of conduct was clearly inconsistent; (2) accepting the State's position on appeal would create a perception the trial court and jury were misled; and (3) the State would gain an unfair advantage from the change because it would create prejudice as to the defendant's ability to defend as to each incident. <u>Id.</u> The same reasoning applies here.

Without discussing <u>Kautz</u>, the Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Valoaga's judicial estoppel argument. On factors one and three, the Court determined the State's positions were not clearly inconsistent because the "the State's position during trial, as stated in closing, was that the assault was a continuous course of conduct beginning with the assault at the bus stop, with the defendant 'slowly pursu[ing]' Whitesel 'all of the way up and until' the final attack in the road." Slip op. at 7.

This is not a fair reading of the record. The State repeatedly referred to two assaults, as the Court of Appeals noted. Slip op. at 8. The Court reasoned that because the State

occasionally referred to the incident as one assault, the positions are not clearly inconsistent. Slip op. at 8 n.4. That the State occasionally spoke of one assault should not control.

As for the second factor, the Court reasoned the trial court was not misled because there was no arguments about jury unanimity below. But the appellate court may apply judicial estoppel for the first time on appeal based on a party's actions in the trial court or even in another appeal. In re Estates of Smaldino, 151 Wn. App. 356, 363, 212 P.3d 579 (2009); Mastro v. Kumakichi Corp., 90 Wn. App. 157, 163-64, 951 P.2d 817 (1998); Kautz, 2022 WL 291005 at *5-6.

The holding on judicial estoppel conflicts with precedent.

RAP 13.4(b)(2). Review of this related issue is also one of substantial public interest meriting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. CONCLUSION

This Court should grant Mr. Valoaga's petition for review on the issue of jury unanimity along with the related issue of judicial estoppel.

This document contains 3,866 words and complies with RAP 18.17.