FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/6/2025 2:04 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103825-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

POLEVIA VALOAGA,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

C. ARGUMENT

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

Valoaga asks this Court to accept review based on an alleged conflict between divisions as to the appropriate standard for assessing jury unanimity as well as the application of judicial estoppel. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Pet. for Review at 8, 23. He further characterizes the former issue as posing a significant question of constitutional law and claims both issues are of

substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4). Pet. for Review at 20, 23.

This Court should deny review because the opinion below applied well-established precedent and Valoaga has not shown any doctrinal disagreement between the divisions of the Court of Appeals.

1. THE PROSECUTOR DESCRIBED A SINGLE COURSE OF CONDUCT IN CLOSING ARGUMENT.

As an initial matter, Valoaga claims the prosecutor expressly "identif[ied] two separate assaults." Pet. for Review at 6, 11-13. While Valoaga's petition accurately quotes the record in support of his argument, he has de-emphasized other statements that do not fit his theory.

¹ While questions concerning jury unanimity are not unusual in the appellate courts, the State doubts whether the general public has much interest in this esoteric legal issue. It is even less likely that the public has "substantial" interest in judicial estoppel.

The Court of Appeals appropriately took a more holistic view, observing, for example, the prosecutor's statement that Valoaga "started his assault at [the] bus stop" and that "for the next 20 minutes...the defendant used this deadly weapon...to assault Daniel Whitesel." Valoaga, No. 85289-2 at 7. As noted in the Brief of Respondent at 10, the trial prosecutor's argument contained numerous references to a singular assault. See RP 852-53 ("this defendant started his assault at that bus stop"); RP 857 ("after the assault, this defendant ran to the west"); RP 857 ("We know that the assault ended at 8:01..."); RP 859 (noting it was undisputed that "an assault occurred"); RP 859 ("...what is at issue is whether...the defendant committed this assault"); RP 870 ("We know that the assault ended around 8:01:03. That's a period of almost 20 minutes...").

Taken in context, the State's position "was that the assault was a continuous course of conduct beginning with the assault at the bus stop." *Valoaga*, No. 85289-2 at 7. The scattered references to an "initial" and "second assault" were

simply used to chronologically orient the jury. *See*, *e.g.*, RP 853 ("[Valoaga] pursued [Whitesel] all of the way up and until in front of [the auto repair shop] where he initiated his second assault").

2. THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN DIVISIONS ON THE STANDARD FOR ASSESSING JURY UNANIMITY ISSUES.

"To protect a criminal defendant's right to be convicted only if found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury must be unanimous as to the act constituting the crime charged."

State v. Lee, 12 Wn. App. 2d 378, 392, 460 P.3d 701 (2020).

When there is evidence of multiple acts that could support a conviction, courts generally enforce this rule by requiring that either a unanimity instruction² be given or that the prosecutor verbally elect in closing argument to rely upon a specific act.

Id.

² See WPIC 4.25; State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984).

However, if a defendant's multiple acts can be characterized as a single "continuing course of conduct," then neither an election nor an instruction is required. *State v. Fiallo-Lopez*, 78 Wn. App. 717, 724, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995); *Lee*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 393. Because assault is a course-of-conduct crime, multiple assaults committed within a short period of time may be considered one continuous act. *E.g.*, *State v. Monoghan*, 166 Wn. App. 521, 537, 270 P.3d 616 (2012); *see also State v. Villanueva-Gonzalez*, 180 Wn.2d 975, 329 P.3d 78 (2014) (concluding that assault is a course of conduct crime).

Valoaga claims there is a disagreement amongst the Court of Appeals as to the appropriate standard for assessing jury unanimity. He cites *State v. Hanson*, 59 Wn. App. 651, 800 P.2d 1124 (1990), as an example of the proper analytical framework for jury unanimity, and claims a split of authority exists because the panel in this case "ignored the framework" from *Hanson*. Pet. for Review at 19.

Hanson held that three questions must be asked to determine whether a *Petrich* instruction was required: (1) "what must be proven under the applicable statute?", (2) "what does the evidence disclose?", and (3) "does the evidence disclose more than one violation of the statute?" 59 Wn. App. at 656-57.

As to the first question, it is undisputed that assault can be proven as a "continuing course of conduct." *Valoaga*, No. 85289-2 at 19; *see Hanson*, 59 Wn. App. at 657.³ As to the second question, the Court of Appeals appropriately considered the facts adduced at trial, including: (1) the length of time separating the two assaultive acts, (2) the number of victims, (3) the physical distance traversed, and (4) whether the defendant had the same criminal objective throughout the incident. *Valoaga*, No. 85289-2 at 8-10 (comparing

_

³ "First, what must be proven under the applicable statute? With most criminal statutes, this will be a single event, such as a burglary, robbery or assault. With some, though, it will be a continuing course of conduct, such as operating a prostitution enterprise." *Hanson*, 59 Wn. App. at 656.

State v. Aguilar, 27 Wn. App. 2d 905, 927, 534 P.3d 360 (2023) with State v. Handran, 113 Wn.2d 11, 12-17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989)). Based on this factual inquiry, the court concluded, consistent with Hanson's third question, that Valoaga's acts "constituted a continuing course of conduct, not multiple distinct acts." Id. at 11.

Although *Valoaga* did not frame this issue in exactly the same way as *Hanson*, the two cases are fundamentally consistent and reconcilable. Under either case, an election or *Petrich* instruction was not required if the evidence showed only a single "pattern or practice of assaultive conduct." *State v. Russell*, 69 Wn. App. 237, 249, 848 P.2d 743 (1993) (citing *Hanson*, 59 Wn. App. at 657); *Valoaga*, No. 85289-2 at 6.

Next, Valoaga cites *Aguilar*, 27 Wn. App. 2d at 927, for the proposition that two legally distinct assaults occurred in this case because "likely due to mental illness…there was not a 'continuing impulse to harm." Pet. for Review at 17. Whether "multiple assaultive acts constitute one course of conduct" is

"highly dependent on the facts." *Villanueva-Gonzalez*, 180
Wn.2d at 985. *Aguilar* involved very different facts from this case, where the defendant engaged in "numerous activities" between assaultive acts, some of which, such as "searching for and doing drugs," were "prolonged endeavors." *Id.* at 927. That a different court considering different facts reached a different result does not suggest a split of authority or an incorrect result in this case.

Valoaga's argument is best characterized as a disagreement with how the Court of Appeals viewed the facts of his case, and he has not shown a true conflict of authority regarding the unanimity analysis. Because there is no need for additional clarification on this issue, Valoaga's petition does not present a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest. Review is not warranted.

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED THE CORRECT LEGAL STANDARD FOR JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL.

The Court of Appeals laid out the following standard for assessing judicial estoppel: "(1) whether the party's later position is clearly inconsistent with its earlier position, (2) whether accepting the new position would create the perception that a court was misled, and (3) whether a party would gain an unfair advantage from the change." *Valoaga*, No. 85289-2 at 6-7. Valoaga does not dispute that this was the proper analysis. Pet. for Review at 21.

Valoaga's briefing to the Court of Appeals and Petition for Review both rely heavily on *State v. Kautz*, No. 54386-9-II, 2022 WL 291005 (2022 Unpublished). Br. of Appellant at 16; Pet. for Review at 21-22. He complains that the Court of Appeals rejected his judicial estoppel argument "[w]ithout discussing *Kautz*." Pet. for Review at 22. But *Kautz* was unpublished and thus has "no precedential value." GR 14.1(a). Appellate courts are discouraged from citing unpublished cases

"unless necessary for a reasoned decision." GR 14.1(c).

Furthermore, RAP 13.4(b)(2) authorizes review by the supreme court only if a "decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a **published** decision of the Court of Appeals." (emphasis added).

As the Court of Appeals correctly found, Valoaga plainly cannot satisfy the established test for judicial estoppel. First, as discussed, *supra*, the State did not take "clearly inconsistent" positions at trial. Second, he cannot show the court was misled since jury unanimity was not litigated at trial and the court made no relevant rulings. Third, he does not provide any nonconclusory allegation of prejudice. Valoaga asserted an identity defense at trial. RP 323; Pet. for Review at 6. It is unclear how arguing that two assaults occurred could have unfairly compromised this defense. Whether it was two assaults or one, Valoaga's defense was the same – that he had nothing to do with Whitesel's injuries and had simply been misidentified. See RP 872-95.

Valoaga has not shown a conflict of authority on this issue, nor has he shown that the application of judicial estoppel is a matter of substantial public interest.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny Valoaga's petition for review.

I certify this document contains 1,787 words, excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17.

DATED this 6th day of February, 2025.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS WSBA #46394

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

- 12 -

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

February 06, 2025 - 2:04 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 103,825-9

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Polevia Valoaga

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 1038259_Answer_Reply_20250206140312SC533575_8299.pdf This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 103825-9 STATES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- richard@washapp.org
- wapofficemail@washapp.org

Comments:

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Gavriel Gershon Jacobs - Email: gavriel.jacobs@kingcounty.gov (Alternate

Email:)

Address:

King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue Seattle, WA, 98104

Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20250206140312SC533575